
MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 1 of 57 

MINUTES 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
September 7, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 

City Hall Council Chambers 
313 Court Street, The Dalles, Oregon 97058 

Via Zoom/ Livestream via City Website 

PRESIDING: Cody Cornett, Chair 

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: Addie Case, John Grant, Philip Mascher, Maria Pena, Mark 
Poppoff, Nik Portela 

COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: None 

STAFF PRESENT: Director Joshua Chandler, City Attorney Jonathan Kara, 
Special Counsel Chris Crean, Secretary Paula Webb 

CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Cornett at 5 :31 p.m. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chair Cornett led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

It was moved by Portela and seconded by Poppo ff to approve the agenda as submitted. The 
motion carried 7 /0; Case, Cornett, Grant, Mascher, Pena, Poppoff and Portela voting in favor, 
none opposed. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

It was moved by Poppoff and seconded by Case to approve the minutes of August 3, 2023 as 
submitted. The motion carried 7/0; Case, Cornett, Grant, Mascher, Pena, Poppoff and Portela 
voting in favor, none opposed. 

It was moved by Pena and seconded by Portela to approve the minutes of August 17, 2023 as 
submitted. The motion carried 7 /0; Case, Cornett, Grant, Mascher, Pena, Poppoff and Portela 
voting in favor, none opposed. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 2 of 57 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Warren Sawyer, 500 E. 3rd Street, The Dalles 

Mr. Sawyer paraphrased his concerns with future development of Basalt Commons, Attachment 
1. 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

APL 033-23, J.R. Zukin Corp. d/b/a Meadow Outdoor Advertising, 747 W. 2nd Street, IN 13E 4 
AA tax lot 200 

Request: Appeal of the ministerial denial on February 27, 2023 of Sign Permit 2589-23, 
Meadow Outdoor Advertising, to replace an existing 8'x 16' billboard with a new, larger 8'x 24' 
billboard in a similar location. 

Chair Cornett read the rules of a public hearing. He then asked if any Commissioner had ex 
parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias which would prevent an impartial decision. Hearing 
none, he opened the public hearing at 5 :44 p.m. 

Director Chandler provided the staff report and presentation, Attachment 2. He noted the 
property address was incorrectly cited in the staff report on pages 1, 3 and 7. The correct address 
is 7 4 7 W. 2nd Street. 

Director Chandler referred to additional material submitted via email or on the dais: 

• Memorandum from Dunn Carney, received via email September 5, 2023, Attachment 3 

• Memorandum of Law from City Attorney Kara, on dais September 7, 2023, Attachment 4 

• Memorandum from Director Chandler, on dais September 7, 2023, Attachment 5 

Chair Cornett asked if any decision in the history of the department used specifically the linear 
measurement. 

Director Chandler explained the Department's actions after receipt of the memorandum from 
Appellant's counsel claiming that linear/road mile was historically used in The Dalles. Staff 
used ArcGIS to determine each address within 100 ft. of a billboard within the City of The 
Dalles. Each individual property file was searched (approximately 200 properties). The Notice 
of Appeal said there are 42 billboards owned and operated by Meadow Outdoor. Staff searched 
all property files and digital files from 2016, 20 permits were found. Two were duplicates, three 
were for maintenance and repair and did not require a permit. Of the 15 remaining permits, four 
referenced linear distance on the permit. Eleven had no mention of linear distance or the 
distance to another billboard. 

Commissioner Grant asked if there was any reference to radius in The Dalles Municipal Code 
(TDMC or Code). Chandler replied the Code ultimately looks at the measurement section of the 
Code, which measures distance horizontally. 

Commissioner Grant then asked if the Code was open to interpretation. Director Chandler 
replied when reviewing the Code, you often have to consider more than one section. Staff 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 3 of 57 

concluded a radial measurement should be used; there is no mention it should be measured by 
the road. The Code states specifically that measurements should not be taken on topography. 

Commissioner Grant asked if the application met any criteria. Chandler replied the staff report 
contained 24 findings. All but four findings met criteria. 

Special Counsel Crean clarified. In the Code, Chapter 6.070 provides a number of provisions 
that apply across the entire development code. Article 10.6.070.030 says when the development 
code refers to distances, "Distances are measured horizontally." No matter where in the Code a 
distance is referenced, it is measured horizontally because of this provision. This provision 
results in a radial measurement. 

Commissioner Mascher asked if this discussion was only about changing the size of the sign. 
Director Chandler replied that was correct. Any structural change must go through a new sign 
permit process and meet current standards. 

Commissioner Mascher stated the Code clearly references the progression of a street, whether 
horizontal or not. He added it was odd to use two different means of measuring. 

Attorney Kara replied no more than five on one side of the street refers to position, not distance. 
In the context of the Code, there is no ambiguity; it resolves the intent. If in one area we use one 
standard, we are not held to that same standard in other areas. 

Commissioner Mascher stated a radius is not a distance, it is an area. If we measure billboards in 
a radius, we are not measuring distance, we are measuring an area. 

Attorney Kara replied a radius is a measurement of distance. If measuring from a center point, 
all points are equidistant from the center, one mile away. It is as precise as it gets in all 
directions. 

Commissioner Mascher stated he would agree to disagree on that point. 

Special Counsel Crean said it is a distance because it is one-half of a diameter. Commissioner 
Portela added that because the diagram itself uses a circle it could be confusing to the eye. 

Chris Zukin, 5525 Cherry Heights Road, The Dalles 

Mr. Zukin is the General Manager of Meadow Outdoor Advertising, a family business in The 
Dalles since 1981. He provided three illustrations, Attachment 6. 

Mr. Zukin stated the linear interpretation has been in effect since 1974. When the Sign Code 
was reviewed in 1981, 1982 and 2007, the interpretation was not changed. If the radial 
interpretation is applied throughout the City, every billboard owned by Meadow Outdoor will be 
nonconforming. None of the billboards could be relocated or reconstructed for safety or 
aesthetic reasons. Theoretically, in 30 to 40 years of this interpretation being in place, the 
billboards we own in The Dalles could go away. Obviously, this is a hardship for our business. 

Mr. Zukin asked the Planning Commission to overturn this denial based on that erroneous 
interpretation. He also asked the Commission to work with City Council to approve a code 
amendment that would insert the word "linear" into the Code to reduce future confusion. 

Chair Cornett asked if linear mile was the same as road mile. Mr. Zukin replied, sure. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 4 of 57 

Chair Cornett noted the deadline for an appeal had passed, and asked why it was delayed. Mr. 
Zukin replied he and Mr. Lehman were unavailable on the meeting days, so asked to push the 
meetings out. He added that Mr. Lehman was responsible for submitting the application and 
requesting an appeal. 

Chair Cornett referred to Mr. Zukin's request that the Planning Commission and City Council 
amend the Code to improve clarity and include "linear mile." Chair Cornett stated the Planning 
Department offered the opportunity to work with Mr. Zukin before tonight's meeting. Why was 
that opportunity not taken? 

Mr. Zukin replied Director Chandler said it was his strong opinion this was the right 
interpretation. Mr. Zukin did not see a chance to change Director Chandler's mind. Zukin added 
he met with both Director Chandler and City Manager Klebes regarding this issue and received 
no forward movement. Mr. Zukin did not see how working together on a new sign code was 
going to make any progress. 

Chair Cornett addressed Mr. Zukin to confirm he knew any new Sign Code would come to the 
Planning Commission. While the Commission considers Staff recommendations, the 
Commission makes our own decisions. "Did you not see that as a possibility or an efficient 
road?" 

Mr. Zukin replied he was on the 2007 sign committee; it took nine months to complete. He felt 
it was not worth the effort when it would result in no improvement. It was easier to come before 
the Commission. 

Commissioner Masc her asked if Mr. Zukin saw the map demonstrating if the road mile were 
applied, it would result in 150 signs. Mascher asked if Mr. Zukin had comments on the map. 

Mr. Zukin replied he had seen the map. To reach the reality you would have to overlay the map 
with zoning, property ownership, and other things. The reality is probably about 42 billboards in 
The Dalles; there could not be 100 billboards in The Dalles. 

Dan Durow, 1628 W 13th Street, The Dalles 

Mr. Durow said he was asked by the Applicant to review the staff report and other materials, and 
to make comment. Mr. Durow was the Community Development Director from 1990 to 2012, 
and participated in many sign code revisions. When you finish the subject sentence it says, 
" ... measured at right angles to the street centerline to which the sign is oriented." This sentence 
must be read in total. Those parts do not add up to a radial measurement. This was not the intent 
or the interpretation during my tenure with the City. When balancing the needs of the traveling 
public and businesses, and aesthetics of the signs, it becomes a policy decision. Planning 
Commission and City Council may change the decision, but it should not be an Administrative 
decision. 

Mr. Durow drew an illustration to explain the method for taking measurements on a slope. That 
illustration will be available at a later date. His written comment is Attachment 7. 

Chair Cornett stated the discussion was not about sign height or setbacks, but how the number of 
signs within a mile are measured. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 5 of 57 

Mr. Durow replied this was never discussed as an area measurement. It was always discussed 
and interpreted as a linear measurement. 

Scott Hege, 6580 Martin Road, The Dalles 

Mr. Hege referred to Mr. Durow's statement that said the interpretation from 1972 through today 
has been the same interpretation. Now there is a new interpretation. Each permit they applied 
for was approved by the Planning Department up until today when the interpretation changed. 

My role as the former Director of the Port of The Dalles was to bring businesses here and help 
existing businesses to stay and expand. That is done by providing a supportive climate. This 
interpretation is not supportive. The City needs jobs and a tax base. 

Mr. Hege continued, not all of the signs are a revenue source for only Meadow Outdoor 
Advertising. They are a source for businesses to generate revenue. Many other users include 
non-profit groups, Public Health, and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). 
Changes to the Code should result from the work of the Planning Commission and City Council. 
One person should not change the interpretation to obliterate all of the signs in our community. 

Chair Cornett noted no signs would be obliterated in response to this hearing. Signs will 
continue to remain in existence until they are changed. Mr. Hege replied the signs will disappear 
over time if this interpretation is upheld. 

John Lehman, 92464 Biggs-Rufus Hwy, Rufus, Oregon 

Mr. Lehman stated this would have a huge negative impact on Meadow, the businesses and the 
community. Born and raised in The Dalles, Mr. Lehman has worked for Meadow since 1991. 
During his time with Meadow, it has always been a requirement to show there are no more than 
eight billboards in one linear mile section of the highway or street. It was never measured as a 
radius. 

Mr. Lehman created numerous maps showing the one-mile inventory along the street or highway 
in order to secure billboard permits. Examples of the maps are included in the original appeal 
packet. The measurement of The Dalles Sign Code mirrors ODOT's code. Mr. Lehman created 
a master interstate line map inventory with the Planners. In the last 32 years, only nine new 
billboards were built. 

Mr. Lehman asked the Planning Commission to instruct Staff to reverse incorrect interpretation 
of The Dalles Sign Code. 

Chair Cornett asked if Meadow measured road miles reflective of ODOT's code. Mr. Lehman 
replied that was correct. The Sign Code is mirrored on ODOT's code. ODOT has a linear 
interpretation, measuring between mile markers. 

Chair Cornett noted the Planning Commission's decision is based on The Dalles Municipal 
Code, not ODOT's code. 

Mr. Lehman said if this interpretation stands, all of our signs will be nonconforming. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 6 of 57 

Ty Wyman, Counsel for the Appellant, Dunn Carney, 851 SW Sixth Ave., Suite 1500, Portland 

Mr. Wyman thanked the Commission and Staff. This case is coming together in an odd way 
procedurally. The evidence is coming to you quite late. Mr. Wyman asked the Commission to 
accept additional evidence, either through a continued hearing or through an open record period. 

Chair Cornett asked if Mr. Wyman was formally requesting an extension. Mr. Wyman replied 
he was requesting the record remain open for 14 days. 

Special Counsel Crean noted ORS 197.797(6) states if someone requests the record held open, 
the Commission must do that. It can be held open for additional written evidence. The 
Commission would review that evidence, then at a future meeting deliberate and make a 
decision. The Commission does not have to take any new public testimony, just written 
evidence. Alternatively, the hearing can be continued for at least 7 or 14 days, and continue to 
accept written evidence as well as verbal testimony. If someone submits new evidence, everyone 
has the opportunity to respond, followed by another 7 days to review responses. After that, the 
record may be closed. The applicant will then have a final 7 days to submit any final written 
argument with no new evidence. This is the 7 /7 /7 rule. The Commission would then return and 
review everything submitted, deliberate and make a decision without any additional testimony. 
The record cannot be closed until the final argument is received. 

Chair Cornett stated public testimony would continue at this meeting. After tonight, verbal 
testimony will be closed. The record will remain open for written testimony. 

Jim Wilcox, 416 W 7th Street, The Dalles 

Mr. Wilcox stated the Planning Office has lost institutional memory. Not one person remains 
from 2006. New staff is making a different interpretation. The Code has not changed since 
1992. The Code for sandwich signs is over 11 pages long, the billboard Code is only two pages. 
The method of measurement is not referenced in the Sign Code. 

Mr. Wilcox said if he read the Code, he would do exactly what Meadow is doing. Without 
background knowledge, he would reach this conclusion because nothing is referenced. 

Mr. Wilcox strongly supports the appeal. The Commission needs to take the past into 
consideration. 

Attorney Kara said he and Director Chandler were not here 30 years ago. They have only the 
Code in front of them. The thing that matters is the intent of City Council. 

Mr. Wilcox asked if the research went back to 2006. Director Chandler replied Staff found 
permits back to 1984. Of those, only four mentioned anything to do with distance. 

Chair Cornett confirmed there were inconsistencies in the submittals and approvals. Director 
Chandler agreed; evidence is not available to show how the applications were approved. 

Mr. Wilcox said what is on paper is not what was going on. The signs are there and they were 
permitted, period. Director Chandler replied of the 15 permits, four were approved by the 
Planning Department in the wrong zone. Two are in residential zones on E. 10th and Trevitt 
Streets, approved in 2012. In a residential zone, billboards are not allowed. 

Mr. Wilcox stated there are inconsistencies throughout the Code. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 7 of 57 

Ryan Rupert, 1819 Cliff Street, The Dalles 

Mr. Rupert stated state, federal and county highways are all measured by the mile markers. If 
your regulation says no more than eight per mile, why would you need to look at any other 
definition of mile? Mr. Rupert said this is the interpretation for all the entities Mr. Zukin works 
with. GIS does not work for this. 

There were no comments in opposition. 

Commissioner Mascher asked if Staff reviewed how this is handled in other counties or cities. 
Director Chandler replied Staff enforces The Dalles Municipal Code; there is no reason to 
consider methods in other jurisdictions. 

Commissioner Mascher asked for the clearest language that references a radial mile. Attorney 
Kara replied the simplest language is found in TDMC 10.6.070.030(A)(2), "Measurements are 
shortest distance." The shortest distance between two points is a straight line. 

Commissioner Grant asked if Staff had a map showing all the existing signs, and how many 
would be nonconforming to this rule if interpreted as a radius. Director Chandler replied no. 
Speaking to the points made about nonconforming, if a few signs were removed, many 
remaining billboards would be conforming. 

Commissioner Grant then asked if there are multiple signs that are nonconforming based on this 
interpretation. Director Chandler replied yes. On the map shown earlier, 14 are around each 
other. We also have nonconforming signs because they are in the wrong zone. No matter how 
we measure it, multiple signs are nonconforming, some of which should not have been approved. 

Commissioner Grant asked if a billboard exceeded its life expectancy and needed to be replaced 
for safety reasons. The radius limits our capacity in that area, correct? 

Special Counsel Crean replied. The Code for nonconforming structures states, "If a 
nonconforming structure is damaged by any means, the structure may only be reconstructed ... " 
This notion if the sign is damaged it cannot be repaired or replaced is not true. The Code 
specifically allows a nonconforming sign to be reconstructed, and goes on to say, "Ordinary 
maintenance and repair is permitted ... " These signs can be maintained and reconstructed for a 
very long time. The notion they will all evaporate is not supported by the Code. 

Attorney Kara said if there are issues with this interpretation, they need to be supported by 
substantial evidence. In my opinion, very little of what was heard tonight qualifies. If the 
Planning Commission would like to see something completely different from its Sign Code, that 
would be great direction to provide to Staff. 

Commissioner Portela asked if the total number of signs were just the total, or the total of one 
entity. If the signs are not permitted by the City, why would we count them? Special Counsel 
Crean replied the answer is because the Code does not distinguish between them. The Code says 
the number of signs within a certain distance are counted. This provision is 50 years old and has 
never been revised. Many sections of the Sign Code need attention. The Community 
Development Department is planning to revise the Sign Code in upcoming months. If we limit 
the number of signs within a certain distance, we should distinguish between state, federal and 
local entities, or clarify that they all count. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 8 of 57 

Special Counsel Crean reiterated a point regarding the structure of the Code. Several comments 
stated the provision to measure distance is not referenced in the Sign Code, therefore it does not 
apply. That simply is not the case. TDMC Article 6.070.010 expressly states, "This Article 
explains how measurements are made ... " The entire article is dedicated to establishing how to 
measure different things for purposes of the development code. These measurements apply 
throughout the entire Code. 

Commissioner Portela said it makes sense that ODOT uses mile markers. He asked if most 
jurisdictions operate under the definition of a radial mile. 

City Attorney Kara stated best practices are going to be for Staff to examine what best practices 
are for future revisions to this Code. For now, it does not matter if a different jurisdiction has 
word for word what our Code says and ends up using a different measurement. 

Commissioner Portela said the argument of ODOT versus a planning department would then be 
invalidated. ODOT functions off distance and, of course, would use a linear mile. 

Chair Cornett clarified. When asking for the difference between the City's Code and ODOT's 
Code, Cornett was trying to illustrate the provision used by ODOT does not exist in our Code. 
How other people do things does not matter; we use TDMC only. 

Chair Cornett added the decisions the Commission makes work within the microcosm ofTDMC. 
The Commission does not consider how it will affect one single business, many businesses or 
businesses yet to come. It does not consider economic development or anything regarding The 
Dalles. It is not the Commission's place to decide what is best for a specific business or not, or 
the overall vitality of The Dalles. The Commission also focuses on historic decision making, 
which we have found to be inconsistent. Cornett added the Commission will continue working 
on the RV Code and the Sign Code as well. However, the Commission must be considerate and 
careful when making these decisions. The decision made on this issue, will have an effect on 
how we modify, amend, change or replace ordinances regarding billboards and signs in the 
future. Any revisions to the Code will not affect applications already submitted. 

Chair Cornett responded to testimony given in favor of the application. Cornett stated, "It is our 
job to change ordinances, think about the ordinances, apply the ordinances for signs. That 
responsibility is ours." 

Chair Cornett closed the public testimony, written testimony remains open. He then requested 
clarification of the time line for submissions. 

Special Counsel Crean stated any new evidence must be submitted to the Planning Department 
by close of business on Thursday, September 14, 2023. Any responsive evidence must be 
submitted by close of business on Thursday, September 21, 2023. The Applicant's final 
argument must be submitted by close of business on Thursday, September 28, 2023. 

City Attorney Kara is unavailable October 5, 2023. Special Counsel Crean suggested the hearing 
continue October 19, 2023, and asked if that was acceptable to the Applicant. 

The Applicant's counsel, Mr. Wyman, requested the record remain open for 14 days to allow 
deeper research into past practices. Chair Cornett agreed to the request. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 9 of 57 

Special Counsel Crean stated for the record, new evidence must be submitted by close of 
business Thursday, September 21, 2023. Responsive evidence must be submitted by close of 
business on Thursday, September 28, 2023. The Applicant's final argument must be submitted 
by close of business on Thursday, October 5, 2023. 

Chair Cornett stated we would revisit the hearing October 19, 2023. He then asked if any 
participant request the public hearing be reopened on October 19 meeting. Counsel Crean 
replied the request could be made, but the Commission was not required to grant the request. 

Chair Cornett closed the public hearing at 7:41 p.m. The written record will remain open until 
the dates identified. 

There were no resolutions. 

STAFF COMMENTS/ PROJECT UPDATES 

Director Chandler thanked everyone for attending. 

Director Chandler introduced new Associate Planner, Frank Glover. 

The meeting September 21, 2023 will include another application. Director Chandler requested 
everyone's attendance. 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS / QUESTIONS 

Chair Cornett thanked all the Commissioners for attending, and said their input is invaluable. He 
added this was a good test for the Commission. 

Chair Cornett added no one would be negative or upset, there is no negative feeling or emotion 
connected with this process. We do the job as best we can. We may disagree and that's okay. 
Please be honest with your direction. 

Commissioners Pena and Grant are unable to attend on September 19, 2023. 

Special Counsel Crean stated the Commission cannot talk about the hearing with anyone outside 
this meeting. He added the Commissioner's may talk as long as no more than three 
Commissioners are present for the discussion. 

City Attorney Kara stated he would attempt to attend more often in person. He invited the 
Commissioners to contact him with questions. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Chair Cornett adjourned the meeting at 7:49 p.m. 

Continued on next page. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES 
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 10 of 57 

Submitted by/ 
Paula Webb, Secretary 
Community Development Department 

SIGNED: 

ATTEST: 
Paula Webb, Secretary 
Community Development Department 

PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 11 of 57 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 12 of 57 Attachment 1 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 13 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 14 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 15 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 16 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 17 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 18 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 19 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 20 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 21 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 22 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 23 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 24 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 25 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 26 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 27 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 28 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 29 of 57 Attachment 2 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 30 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 31 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 32 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 33 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 34 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 35 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 36 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 37 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 38 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 39 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 40 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 41 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 42 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 43 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 44 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 45 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 46 of 57 Attachment 3 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 47 of 57 Attachment 4 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 48 of 57 Attachment 4 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 49 of 57 Attachment 4 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 50 of 57 Attachment 4 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 51 of 57 Attachment 4 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 52 of 57 Attachment 5 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

 
 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 53 of 57 Attachment 5 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

 
 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 54 of 57 Attachment 6 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

 
 
 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 55 of 57 Attachment 6 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
 

 
 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 56 of 57 Attachment 7 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 



MINUTES  
Planning Commission Meeting 
September 7, 2023 
Page 57 of 57 Attachment 7 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 




